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Expanding from just 158 participants on its pilot 
programme in 2009 to almost 100,000 in 2017/18, 
National Citizen Service (NCS) is the country’s 
fastest growing youth movement in over a 
century. To date, over 400,000 young people 
have said ‘Yes’ to NCS.
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NCS participants experience a range 
of outdoor activities, learn new skills 
(from teamwork, leadership and 
public speaking to basic cooking 
and budgeting) and meet with local 
charities and entrepreneurs, and then 
commit 30 hours to a social action 
project, which they themselves deliver 
and promote – empowering young 
people to make a real change in their 
local communities, while fostering 
a sense of social responsibility for 
the future.

Longer term, NCS graduates have 
exclusive access to a wealth of work 
and volunteering opportunities across 
the country. Following graduation, 
former participants can also continue 
to make their mark within the 
organisation through our Regional 
Youth Board, Leaders Programme and 
National Youth Board – ensuring that 
young people’s voices remain at the 
heart of the decisions we make.

Operating across England and in 
Northern Ireland, NCS works with 
16 – 17 year-olds, from a range of 
different backgrounds, at a pivotal 
point in their lives in order to improve 
social mobility, social cohesion and 
social engagement.

We are working hard to ensure 
NCS becomes a rite of passage 
that is a normal part of growing up, 
which helps to equip and empower 
generations of young people. 

We do this by bringing young people 
together in common purpose for two 
or four weeks to design and deliver 
their own community action projects 
– building their confidence in what 
they can achieve, as well as creating 
bridges across social divides and 
ladders to opportunity. By offering 
young people an innovative and 
engaging shared experience, 
NCS helps them to become better 
individuals and, in turn, better citizens.

Our programme is a unique chance 
for teenagers to live away from home, 
develop key life skills and interact with 
other young people from different 
backgrounds. NCS is funded by the 
Government, which means no one 
is prevented from taking part for 
financial reasons. Our programmes 
take place outside of term time; the 
summer programme takes four 
weeks to complete, with a shorter 
two-week version taking place in the 
autumn and spring. The programme 
is delivered by a family of over 100 
grassroots organisations, each with 
unique local expertise and a passion 
for inspiring young people.

Keep up-to-date with what 
NCS is up to

www.ncsyes.co.uk
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CHAIR’S REPORT
STEPHEN GREENE

We are pleased to present NCS 
Trust’s Annual Report for 2017/18. 

Over the years, NCS has grown into 
a wide-reaching family of over 100 
grassroots organisations, each with 
unique local expertise and a passion 
for inspiring young people. In 2017, 
we worked with more external 
stakeholders than ever before, 
building strong partnerships with 
other third sector organisations and 
delivery partners at both national 
and local level.

We must recognise the NCS team 
leaders and volunteers – including my 
fellow Board members, along with the 
National and Regional Youth Boards. 
It is these volunteers, along with 
frontline staff throughout our network 
of organisations, who are the heart of 
NCS. NCS Trust is not a government 
organisation, but NCS is funded by 
Government and we would like to 
thank our partners in government 
for their partnership. 

For 2017/18, our total income was 
£185.7m which comprises funding 
from Central Government, parental 
contributions and partnership income. 
Our expenditure was £183.2m which 
covers our delivery partners and key 
central function costs. Throughout 
the year, we continued to review 
our programme and procedures to 
ensure that we always offer excellent 
value for money, as well as a truly 
enriching experience for young 
people. NCS really works. It is a 
powerful way of building generations 
of empowered young people, and 
a hugely worthwhile investment in 
the future of our country, with every 
pound invested returning many 
more in value to society.

More than 400,000 young people 
have now taken part in NCS since its 
launch, and the programme is well on 
the way to becoming a cornerstone 
development stage for young people 

across the country. NCS is a chance 
to make new friends from different 
backgrounds and become a team. 
Then, everyone works together to gain 
the skills and confidence necessary to 
affect change in the neighbourhood, 
town, city and country.

In May 2017, NCS was granted 
a Royal Charter – an accolade 
previously granted to prestigious 
organisations such as the BBC, the 
Bank of England, the Universities of 
Oxford and Cambridge and the British 
Red Cross Society. I am immensely 
proud that NCS Trust is the youngest 
organisation to be awarded Royal 
Charter status as this demonstrates 
the impact that has already been 
made and the importance of 
preserving it. 

A major priority for the Trust is now 
overseeing the ongoing transition to 
becoming a Royal Charter body – a 
status that recognises NCS as a public 
interest organisation demonstrating 
professionalism, pre-eminence, 
stability and permanence in its field.

Looking forward, other priorities 
for the Trust will be to oversee the 
recommissioning and expansion of 
our network of NCS partners whose 
current contracts expire in 2019. In 
addition, NCS Trust and its partners 
look forward to participating in 
the comprehensive Government 
Spending Review to demonstrate  
the long-term efficacy of NCS for  
our young people and society. 

An ever-stronger emphasis on impact, 
the quality of the programme and the 
increasing inclusivity of the experience 
– combined with greater value for 
money – will be the main ingredients 
for this success. I am fully confident 
that NCS Trust will succeed and thrive 
in the future. As the Trust continues 
to grow, the organisation is certainly 
showing the necessary adaptive 
attitude to evolve and prosper 

while building a new generation of 
empowered young people.

In closing, after six years, I will be 
stepping down as Chair of NCS Trust 
in 2018/19 after a handover period 
with the incoming Chair Designate 
of the Royal Charter body, and hence 
this is the last Annual Report I will be 
introducing in this role. Working with 
NCS is not a job, it is a mission. One 
leaves a job but never a mission, and 
this is why I am excited to be continuing 
my support for NCS in the capacity of 
a Patron, joining an incredible group of 
NCS Patrons who represent the best of 
the United Kingdom.

I would like to thank everyone I have 
worked with during my time at this 
incredible organisation: the dynamic 
and driven executive team, my Board, 
the Trust’s network, our partners and, 
most importantly, the thousands of 
young people who have so inspired 
me and made this role such a 
privilege to hold.

STEPHEN GREENE
CHAIR



� NCS Trust 
� Annual Report and Accounts 2018

� 03

CEO’S REPORT
MICHAEL LYNAS

2017/18 has been another exciting 
year for the NCS team. We refreshed 
our strategy, focusing on five pillars.

Firstly, we focused on growing our 
reach with young people. Almost 
100,000 young people took part in 
NCS in 2017 – one in six of 16 year 
olds – making this our highest ever 
participation year. This means there 
are now over 400,000 NCS graduates 
who have thrown themselves into new 
challenges, while discovering their 
own power to make a difference.

We were pleased to have worked with 
Government on guidance improving 
our partnership models with schools, 
colleges and local authorities. We also 
sharpened our focus on the hardest-
to-reach young people, rolling out new 
approaches and playing a significant 
role alongside other organisations in 
the Government’s Opportunity Areas. 
We remain proud that, as we grow, 
we are reaching proportionately more 
young people from disadvantaged 
backgrounds, and we continue to do 
even more to broaden our reach.

Secondly, we focused on improving 
our quality and impact. With NCS, 
hundreds of thousands of young 
people have forged friendships across 
divides, developed new skills for life 
and work, and helped to build stronger 
communities through social action.  
The programme has also given them 
the chance to experience things that 
many never imagined they would.

We continue to work to improve our 
curriculum to offer life-changing new 
experiences that will equip young 
people with the skills they need in the 
twenty-first century. Our exciting new 
partnership with Raspberry Pi will help 
young people develop digital skills and 
use these to solve social problems. We 
are also investing in supporting our 
delivery team to be the best possible 
mentors to young people. To that end, 
we initiated a partnership with Young 

Minds and rolled out mental health and 
resilience training to the thousands of 
amazing people who bring NCS to life.

We have also improved our alumni 
journey, as NCS graduates contribute 
to a wide range of initiatives – proving 
the maxim that “you haven’t done NCS; 
you’re doing NCS.” One of the most 
poignant moments in my 10 years with 
NCS was in July 2017, as almost 100 
graduates were involved in centenary 
commemorations for Passchendaele, 
the devastating First World War battle 
in which hundreds of thousands of 
people died. I felt privileged that NCS 
could play a significant role in helping 
the next generation remember the 
sacrifices of those who gave their lives.

Our third focus was delivering value 
for money. NCS is an investment in 
the next generation, and we continue 
to demonstrate that this investment 
generates a positive return. Better 
individuals make better citizens, and 
better citizens make a better society. 
That’s what NCS is all about. We know 
of the positive impacts of NCS not 
only through the things that so many 
young people and their parents and 
guardians tell us, but also through a 
range of independent evaluations.

Independent analysis from the 
Universities of Oxford and Manchester 
published in early 2018 showed that 
NCS helps positively impact young 
people’s social integration. Importantly, 
the greatest impact was found among 
those from the most disadvantaged 
and segregated communities. A 
separate independent evaluation 
showed that NCS increases young 
people’s confidence and helps them 
influence the world around them.

It may be hard to put a ‘pounds and 
pence’ value on a young person whose 
attitude to themselves and the world 
around them has been transformed. 
Yet a range of independent reports 
published in the last year have shown 

a consistent and positive return on 
investment for society for every pound 
spent on NCS. 

Fourthly, we focused on expanding 
our network of partners. Hundreds of 
brilliant organisations bring NCS to life 
at local level, and we are opening up to 
new partners, so that NCS can be truly 
locally embedded across the country. 
In 2017, we announced a significant 
new partnership with The Scout 
Association, and are currently working 
hard with them to make this a reality.

Our fifth focus was on building NCS 
as an independent, accountable 
organisation with broad support. 
As a key part of that, we’re excited 
about NCS Trust’s transition to a Royal 
Charter body and implementing the 
National Citizen Service Act of 2017.  
We will be independent of government, 
and accountable to Parliament. As 
we look forward to writing the next 
chapter for NCS with Brett Wigdortz 
as Chair, we pay tribute to Stephen 
Greene and our Board for their 
inspirational work.

For me, there’s a final defining memory 
from the past 12 months: Grenfell. Our 
London office was based in Kensington 
Aldridge Academy, a great school next 
to Grenfell Tower led by David Benson. 
As part of the local community the NCS 
team joined so many people desperate 
to try to alleviate the suffering. The true 
power of civil society became apparent, 
as charities, churches, mosques, social 
enterprises and individuals all opened 
their doors. NCS will continue to do 
everything we can to build stronger 
communities in North Kensington –  
as well as around the country.

MICHAEL LYNAS
CEO
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THE NCS EXPERIENCE 

“NCS is the opportunity of a lifetime! 
It teaches you that, together with 
other people, you can really make 
a difference. It’s like being part of a 
family. It really helped with educating 
myself about mental health, and 
how to express myself in different 
situations. I got a job soon after the 
programme, and I don’t think I’d have 
been able to do that without NCS!” 

AMY

“There’s quite a negative attitude 
towards our generation, but NCS 
shines a completely different light on 
that, proving we’re not how the media 
portrays us. I used to be quite shy and 
anxious, but NCS made me much 
more sociable. It’s also given me the 
confidence to broaden my horizons. 
NCS is life changing!”

ARTEMIS

“NCS was amazing! Just all the new 
experiences, the outdoor activities, 
public speaking, meeting different 
people… I got so much out of it. A big 
thing for me was that I’ve never been 
great at working with other people – 
I like to do things my way! – but it 
taught me the value of teamwork, 
which will be incredibly useful 
in the workplace.”

BENJAMIN

“My friends and family thought NCS 
was wonderful – they saw that I had 
more confidence and was more 
passionate about things, and I was 
actually getting out of the house 
rather than staying in all the time! I’ve 
since taken up climbing, which I love, 
and the programme pointed me to a 
college course in Outdoor Adventure. 
I wasn’t aware it existed beforehand, 
so if it wasn’t for NCS I wouldn’t be 
doing the course I love now.”

CASEY

To date, more than 400,000 young people have 
participated in our programme. Here is what 
some of the graduates who said ‘Yes’ to NCS 
in 2017 said about us.

NCS gave me the chance 
to talk to new people from 
different backgrounds, 
from various parts of West 
Yorkshire, and I learnt quite 
a lot from them. It was really 
inspirational, because some 
of them had come from really 
tough backgrounds. I thought 
my background was quite 
bad, but talking to others 
made me realise that I’m 
actually really lucky.

KISLER
�
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Asked to rate the

48% of our
summer programme

participants
gave us 10/10

while 95%
rated us 6 or above

experience

“NCS was like nothing I’d ever experienced. 
I’d do it again tomorrow! It was great to meet 
so many young people who actually want to 
make a change – I’m so grateful for that. They 
teach you the skills you don’t get at school, like 
leadership, communication, or how to present 
yourself at interview. It also opens a lot of doors 
to new opportunities and can put you in touch 
with other organisations.” 

RAIS

“Youth organisations like NCS 
are the way forward, as they 
give you a massive platform 
to go out and make a change. 
A lot of young people want to 
get their voices heard more, 
and it gives you those links – 
like the Regional Youth Board 
running a trip to Parliament 
to talk about politics and the 
issues affecting young people. 
Through NCS, I also got invited 
to Kickstart, where I met 
people from Northern Ireland, 
Birmingham… I have friends 
across the country now!”

POPPY

“I think there’s a lack of 
awareness of what charities 
are out there, or how you can 
contribute. I’d always wanted 
to do something to improve 
my community, but didn’t 
know how to get involved – 
so NCS was the perfect 
opportunity. My NCS 
experience has definitely 
made me want to do more 
for my community. It’s 
important to do something. 
If you want to see a change, 
you have to make that 
change happen.”

WENDY

“Anyone who’s unsure about doing 
NCS should just go for it. You’ll be 
exposed to people from loads of 
different backgrounds, and you’ll leave 
knowing you’ve made a difference to 
the community as well as to yourself. 
It’ll help you stand out, essentially. 
And you’ll have the time of your life!”

ANDY

(source: DCMS Evaluation, 2017)

You often hear that people my 
age are reluctant to help out in 
the community. But we’re now 
No. 1 in terms of getting involved – 
compared to seventh place a few 
years ago – purely due to NCS. 
That’s really impressive! I’ve really 
got into charity work now. I like 
helping people. I always thought 
I’d work in coding, but since NCS 
I’ve had second thoughts. I want 
to do something more around 
social action. If there’s a job that 
lets me do both, that’d be amazing.

SHAF
�
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INTRODUCTION

Our year at a glance 

April
The NCS Bill received royal 
assent and NCS Trust was 
granted a Royal Charter

July
We announced our partnership 
with The Scout Association, 
enabling us to support more 
young people and have an 
even greater impact

June
New Ofsted guidance was 
launched, outlining the positive 
impact NCS has on young 
people and the potential 
benefits for schools

100 graduates 
represented NCS at the 
centenary commemoration 
of the battle of Passchendaele 
in Belgium

2017

NCS is fast becoming a rite of passage 
for young people and making a difference 
for generations to come.

During the past 12 months, we 
developed expertise in every 
area of our operation, which, 
together with our evidence-
based approach, has enabled 
us to innovate and engage 
a greater number of young 
people, reaching more 16–17 
year-olds than ever before. We 
strengthened our partnerships 
network, continued to focus  
on offering excellent value for 
money, and took further steps  
to becoming a key national 
institution as we began the 
transition to becoming a  
Royal Charter body.

Growth
98,000 young people took part in the 
NCS programme in 2017, an increase 
of 5%. We fell just short of our target 
for the calendar year by filling 98% of 
our scheduled places. This represents 
the largest number of participants 
since NCS was formed. 

Inclusivity is key for NCS. A recent 
report by the House of Lords 
Select Committee on Citizenship 
and Civic Engagement found that 
our programme compares well 
against more established youth 
programmes, such as The Scouts 
or The Duke of Edinburgh’s Award, 
in terms of attracting disadvantaged 
young people and ensuring that 
young people from hard to reach 
communities are involved.

In 2017, we also met key 
performance indicators around 
inclusive engagement, exceeding 
our participation mix targets for 
ethnicity, special educational 
needs and disability.

However, we know there is always 
more that can be done to reach 
out and better support the most 
vulnerable young people in our 

society and we are committed to 
identifying and removing barriers 
to accessing NCS programmes. 
In the past year we have piloted 
a range of innovative projects to 
ensure we are able to attract harder  
to reach young people. 

Our Personal Coach pilot scheme, 
for example, focused on building 
partnerships with key workers to plan 
an individual’s pathway through NCS 
while ensuring that the right level of 
support was in place to enable them 
to fully participate and maximise their 
personal outcomes. Over half the 
young people involved with this pilot 
were looked after children.

We also want NCS to feel like a shared 
national experience. For that to be 
the case, people who participate in 
different parts of the country need to 
see a clear common thread between 
the programmes that they went 
through – in terms of the skills that they 
learnt, the activities that they did or 
themes that they dealt with. To achieve 
this, we are constantly adapting and 
exploring new initiatives, to ensure that 
NCS remains relevant and accessible 
to as broad an audience as possible.
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INTRODUCTION CONTINUED

Programme Quality and Impact
We are committed to increasing 
the impact that NCS has on young 
people and communities, while 
continuously improving the quality 
of our programme.

We use innovation and evaluation 
to learn more about maximising 
the positive impacts of NCS for 
young people, their families and 
communities, and society as a whole 
– working with partners to openly 
evaluate the programme, ensuring 
that NCS is the best it can be as  
we continue to grow. All of our 
published evaluation and research 
reports, including independent 
evaluations from Ipsos MORI  
and DCMS can be found at  
www.ncsyes.co.uk/about-us.

Tens of thousands of young people 
benefit greatly from NCS every year, 
and have a truly rewarding time 
while doing so. This is borne out by 
the recent DCMS impact evaluation 
revealing the likelihood that graduates 
would recommend NCS to other 
young people was very high – 83% 
of summer participants and 78% 
of autumn participants stated that 
they ‘definitely would’*. 

NCS participants are changed for the 
better on multiple fronts, developing 
a range of life skills – from emotional 
resilience and team working to 
presentational skills. To take just 
one example, NCS has been shown 
to increase graduates’ likelihood 
of having the confidence to lead 
a team by 20 percentage points*.

*	 DCMS Evaluation, December 2017:

www.ncsyes.co.uk/sites/default/files/NCS%20
2016%20EvaluationReport_FINAL.pdf 

Safeguarding
In 2017 we employed an additional 
safeguarding specialist. As part 
of our Safeguarding policy, NCS 
promotes and prioritises the safety 
and wellbeing of young people 
and ensures everyone understands 
their roles and responsibilities. All 
staff are provided with appropriate 
safeguarding learning opportunities, 
and with training to recognise, identify 
and respond to signs of abuse, neglect 
and other safeguarding concerns.

During the past year nearly 
100,000 young people attended 
programmes. 4% of this cohort 
required safeguarding related 
support. We have identified and 
implemented training for all NCS 
staff including face-to-face and 
online training. We have raised 

Prevent awareness through 
training and identified trends for 
improving safeguarding practices. 
We have developed policies and 
procedures such as a Minimum 
Standard Safeguarding Framework, 
a safeguarding manual and a 
Drugs, Alcohol and Psychoactive 
Substances policy. 

In the event of an incident or concern 
of abuse, NCS is committed to 
providing appropriate support and to 
ensure that confidential, detailed and 
accurate records of all safeguarding 
concerns are maintained and securely 
stored. The policy and procedures are 
widely promoted and are mandatory 
for everyone involved in NCS. 

Innovation
In 2017, NCS piloted more than 
20 initiatives, involving 11,000  
young people. These included a 
Buddy Scheme which, drawing on 
research around the importance of 
social connections, partnered young 
people via a secure online platform 
prior to them participating in NCS. 
Trialled in 935 schools across multiple 
regions, we found the initiative 
increased the likelihood of young 
people turning up at the start of  
the programme by up to 6.4%.

David Cameron, 
the chair of NCS 
Patrons, joined the new 
Board of Patrons at 
their first meeting

Summer
Our largest summer to date 
with over 82,000 young 
people participating

Launch of school & college 
co‑ordinator pilot to 
incentivise a dedicated 
NCS champion within 
100 target schools

Going to Belgium with NCS as 
part of the Passchendaele 100 
was an incredible experience. 
It was such an important event, 
and totally unique. There were 
thousands of people there, 
including Royals, and it was all 
televised. It’s not something 
I ever thought I’d get the 
chance to do, and I felt really 
proud to be a part of it.

NCS graduate  
Hannah Darroch
�
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Over 20
initiatives piloted in 2017

11,000
young people involved

Following the Prime Minister’s 
announcement in August 2017 that 
NCS will develop new plans to support 
mental health awareness amongst 
young people, we have made great 
progress towards being able to deliver 
a robust mental health initiative. 
These plans can be categorised into 
three main areas: workforce training, 
programme content and Mental 
Health Graduate champions. 

In partnership with YoungMinds, a 
leading youth mental health charity, 
we have designed and delivered 
a bespoke Mental Health training 
package to our workforce so that 
they are able to recognise mental 
health issues in young people on 
programme and refer them to the 
appropriate service. 

NCS is working with Shift, a service 
design agency, and a number of 
our expert delivery partners to pilot 
a more consistent and structured 
approach to guided reflection, 
with the aim of scaling across 
the network for 2019.

Members of NCS’s National Youth 
Board have been selected and trained 
to become Graduate Mental Health 
Champions. They will be volunteering 
their services on programmes to 
support both attendees and service 
providers throughout the 2018 summer 
and autumn NCS sessions.

Partnering for Success
In 2017/18, NCS continued to expand 
its diverse network of partners. In 
order to deliver the programme, we 
now work with nine regional partners 
and over 100 local partners – including 
charities, football clubs, cities and 
councils, schools and colleges, 
and a faith organisation.

In 2017 NCS announced a partnership 
with The Scout Association to pilot 
ways to further expand their joint 
reach and impact. The three-year 
partnership will test new ways to 
integrate the NCS experience within 
Scouting – helping to support the 
growth of both organisations

We also work with a range of 
corporate partners both during 
the programme itself and to 
provide further opportunities for 
our graduates once they have 
completed NCS.

Notable partnerships during the past 
year included that with EDF Energy 
(under which over 600 young people 
carried out a power station tour or 

attended careers talks led by the 
company, with seven different events 
taking place during the summer), 
and professional services giant 
EY, which is working with NCS to 
equip and empower future talent 
via career guidance workshops and 
apprenticeship opportunities.

Throughout 2017, we partnered 
with BBC Radio 1, 1Xtra and Asian 
Network on a year-long campaign, 
encouraging young people to explore 
issues surrounding their mental health. 
NCS graduates became social action 
champions for the My Mind and Me 
initiative*, working with the stations  
to help shape the campaign 
throughout the year, offering their 
insights, stories and experiences,  
and leading discussions on the key 
issues around mental health.

*	 My Mind and Me initiative:

www.bbc.co.uk/mediacentre/latestnews/2017/
my-mind-and-me

In terms of political partners and 
public affairs work, more than 
200 external visitors – mostly MPs, 
peers and civil servants – visited 
the programme in 2017. As well as 
the Prime Minister, we hosted many 
members of the Cabinet, alongside 
many senior Labour MPs. We also 
hosted many senior civil servants, 
including the Permanent Secretary 
of DCMS, and have reached out to 
influential stakeholders at the major 
party conferences.

16,000 seasonal staff, working 
in local communities, helped 
to make NCS possible

2.95 million hours 
Were given by NCS participants 
to social action projects

The Prime Minister visited young 
people on the programme twice, 
including the day many were 
getting their GCSE results

from all
political parties

made programme visits
139 MPS

October
Our first Kickstart event 
took place with 240 NCS 
Regional Board Members

New government guidance was 
launched to help local authorities 
further engage with NCS – ensuring 
that local communities are able to 
benefit from its positive impacts
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INTRODUCTION CONTINUED

Engaging with Schools
In 2017, NCS engaged with over 
4,000 schools and colleges to attract 
more and more young people to our 
programme. We worked with 92% 
of all mainstream schools across 
England, as well as awarding 575 
schools NCS Champion School 
status – recognising their exceptional 
commitment to the programme.

In July 2017, the programme was 
profiled in Ofsted’s Schools Inspection 
Update, with Ofsted guidance for 
inspectors now allowing schools 
to draw on NCS participation as 
evidence of provision for personal 
development. November 2017, 
meanwhile, saw the publication 
of NCS Guidance for Schools and 
Colleges* – a document created by 
the Department for Education (DfE) 
in collaboration with NCS in order 
to help schools and colleges better 
engage with our programme.

*	 NCS Guidance for Schools and Colleges:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/
national-citizen-service-guidance-for-schools-
and-colleges

In 2017, we focused on building 
relationships with local authorities in 
DfE’s Opportunity Areas: 12 regions 
of the UK deemed in need of extra 
support to help boost social mobility. 
Examples of initiatives in these areas 
include engaging NCS graduates 
in council discussions to set local 
youth priorities for youth provision, 
targeting harder to reach schools, 
and developing ways of engaging 
with specific groups of young people 
– such as young carers, those living 
in care or those being educated 
outside of mainstream schooling.

We have also tested a hypothesis 
that giving financial incentives to 
schools will increase sign-ups to NCS, 
reduce attrition, and – in the longer 
term – could deliver cost savings on 
recruitment and marketing. From 100 
targeted schools across eight regions, 
including six Opportunity Areas, we 
have already engaged 76 schools 
in a pilot scheme.

Value for Money
We believe that NCS is an investment 
in the future of our country and, as 
such, NCS is committed to achieving 
value for money in everything that 
we do.

For every £1 of taxpayer money 
spent on the programme, we currently 
provide more than twice that value in 
terms of social benefit* by boosting 
the wellbeing and higher education 
outcomes of participants. Indeed, a 
value for money analysis undertaken 
by DCMS and published in December 
2017 estimated the annual economic 
benefit of our programme at 
£263.3m*. We regularly re-evaluate 
our costs, and are committed to 
delivering even better value for 
money in the coming years.

*	 DCMS Evaluation, December 2017 

https://www.ncsyes.co.uk/sites/default/files/
NCS%202016%20EvaluationReport_FINAL.pdf

 

December
We launched the first ever NCS 
youth report – Welcome To Our 
World: Life as a Teen in 2017 

www.ncsyes.co.uk/welcome-to-our-world

BBC Radio 1, 1Xtra and Asian Network ran 
the year-long awareness campaign My 
Mind and Me in conjunction with NCS, 
encouraging young people to explore 
issues surrounding their mental health

www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p04pxgfk

Mental wellbeing is a big issue for 
young people. For My Mind and Me, 
I took part in a series of workshops  
to help design and structure the 
campaign, and shared my story in  
a video, released on World Mental 
Health Day. It made me feel like my 
experiences could raise awareness and 
help shape the conversation around 
young people and mental health. 
Hopefully, anyone going through 
something similar can relate to it –  
and reach out for the help they need.” 

NCS graduate  
Blessing Odunyemi
�

www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p05j7896



� NCS Trust 
� Annual Report and Accounts 2018

� 11

1,200 graduates from across 
the country

delivered a day of coordinated social action

“In reviewing the cost-effectiveness 
of the NCS, will the Secretary of 
State take into account the absolutely 
brilliant impact it has on so many 
young people? I have seen this for 
myself in Nottingham. Many young 
people who are disadvantaged or 
facing other challenges in life come 
together in the programme, and it 
makes a real difference to them.” 

LABOUR MP VERNON COAKER
House of Commons, 2018 

Preparing for the Future
Our vision for NCS is that it becomes 
a new national institution, dedicated 
to helping the next generation come 
together, get ahead and make their 
mark in their communities – both in 
the short and long term. To this end, 
we have been working to ensure 
that progression pathways beyond 
the NCS programme itself – such 
as our Regional Youth Boards – 
continue to add more value: both 
as a development opportunity for 
NCS graduates and further  
benefiting local communities 
and regional partners.

In 2017, we took a more proactive 
approach to equipping young 
people to join a Regional Youth 
Board, including running a residential 
programme for applicants. 240 
young people attended our new 
Kickstart programme designed to 
prepare graduates who are going to 
be representing their Regional Youth 
Board in the year ahead. The three 
day event involved a series of sessions 
designed to help the young people 
get to know each other and hear 
about the varied NCS experiences 
they have had so far. A number of 
interactive workshops included a 
graduate led session ‘Passions for 
change’, a Radio 1 session called ‘How 
to be brilliant at coming up with great 
ideas’, and each young person had 
social media and PR training.

The future looks bright for NCS. In 
2017, the NCS Bill received Royal 
Assent and as a result, NCS is now 
transitioning to a Royal Charter body 
– independent of government and 
accountable to Parliament. This gives 
NCS Trust the historic opportunity 
to embed NCS as a key part of 
growing up in this country, supporting 
generations of young people while 
building a stronger country for us all.

On the following pages, we look 
in more detail at the three social 
challenges that NCS exists to help 
tackle: social mobility, social cohesion, 
and social engagement. 

January 2018
Publication of the  
Full-Time Social Action 
Review highlighting  
the importance of NCS

March

Publication of National Citizen Service 
2016 Evaluation by Kantar Public and 
London Economics on behalf of DCMS

www.ncsyes.co.uk/sites/default/files/NCS%202016%20EvaluationReport_FINAL.pdf

assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/679078/The_
Steve_Holliday_Report.pdf
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SOCIAL MOBILITY
NCS is making a positive contribution towards developing 
our country’s future talent – improving young people’s  
confidence, communication, leadership abilities and life  
skills. The programme also helps increase social mobility, 
by reaching those in disadvantaged communities, 
offering new opportunities and broadening horizons.

NCS HELPS YOUNG PEOPLE TO  
FOLLOW THEIR DREAMS
“NCS is the best thing ever!,” enthuses 
19-year-old Hannah, who joined the 
programme after hearing about it in  
a video by celebrity YouTuber Zoella.

“It sounds quite clichéd, but it’s 
definitely the most worthwhile thing 
you can do with your summer. There’s 
nothing else like NCS out there, and 
I’m so grateful that I could do it. It 
really inspired me, and gave me the 
confidence to try a lot of new things.”

“It was thanks to NCS that I decided 
to go to Uni actually,” she continues. 
“I thought I’d never be able to do 
it – either because it just wasn’t for 
me, I wouldn’t have the money, or 
I wasn’t confident enough – but 
getting to experience a University 
environment while on NCS made me 
feel like maybe I could actually do it. 
And I found out from different talks on 
careers while on the programme that  
I could access funding, so I realised 
that maybe I could go to Uni after all.”

“If it wasn’t for NCS, then I definitely 
wouldn’t be doing what I’m doing 
now,” adds Hannah, who has gone on 
to study French, Spanish and Italian 
at BA (Hons) level. “There are so many 
positive opportunities out there to 
explore, and NCS helps you access 
them. It gives you the space, resources 
and motivation to overcome any fears 
or doubts you might have, and it’s 
really expanded my horizons.”

While studying, Hannah has continued 
to work alongside NCS, representing 
the organisation at Regional and 
National Youth Board level and as part 
of the BBC’s My Mind & Me mental 
health campaign, as well as being 
interviewed on local radio about what 
freedom means to young people today.
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70%

NCS

of young

lowers anxiety

of young
people would

and boosts
young people’s

ncs graduates

£263.3m

recommend
ncs to others*

estimated
annual economic
benefit of NCS**

are more confident

leaders and

ncs feeling
more confident

about getting a job*

people leave

confidence*

team players*

90%

“I met group after group of motivated 
and positive NCS participants. It is 
wonderful to endorse such a great 
programme. Young people like this 
are our employees of the future.” 

TOM THAYER
Education and Skills Manager, EDF Energy 
(NCS corporate partner)

“NCS really is a golden thread within 
every young person’s development 
into adulthood. It moulds young 
people into becoming the next 
model society, with life goals and 
ambitious targets set throughout.”

JADE HIBBERT
Education and Inclusion Development 
Manager, Shrewsbury Town FC in the 
Community programme (delivery partner)

“Our students who take part in NCS 
really benefit from the travel, the 
challenge, the meeting of others and 
the chance to work on a community 
project. That’s why we promote it; 
we know it’s a wonderful opportunity 
and a very tangible way for pupils 
to enhance their CVs for college, 
work and life.” 

SIMON GARNHAM
Assistant Head Teacher at Harwich 
and Dovercourt High School in Essex

*	 Ipsos MORI evaluation, August 2017
**	 DCMS Evaluation, December 2017
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SOCIAL COHESION 
NCS is helping to foster greater understanding, inclusion, 
integration and cohesion between young people from a 
range of different backgrounds. Programme participants 
meet people from all walks of life – whom they might 
otherwise never have mixed with – to work together, share 
ideas and experiences, have fun and form firm friendships.

Casey and Waj
Bridging cultural differences 
through friendship 
Casey and Waj, both from Rotherham 
in South Yorkshire, met on the NCS 
programme in 2017. Despite coming 
from very different backgrounds 
and living on opposite sides of 
town, they have since become firm 
friends. Their story also featured in 
the BBC’s Crossing Divides season, 
which looked at the ways in which 
different people connect.

“I’d never have met Waj were it not 
for NCS,” says 17 year old Casey, who 
comes from a predominantly white 
British area of Rotherham. “We bonded 
during a massive hike up a mountain, 
and hit it off immediately.

“Where I’m from, it’s not ethnically diverse,” 
she explains. “I’d not really interacted 
with people from different backgrounds, 

so meeting Waj was a new experience. 
On NCS, there are so many different 
groups of people, but it gives you those 
commonalities and talking points. For 
example, I didn’t know the ins and outs 
of what Halal meat was until I met Waj, 
and I remember asking her about her 
hijab, and whether she wears it at home.

“I think there’s often a lack of 
understanding about different 
cultures. You don’t really learn about 
it in school, but being aware of and 
accepting other people’s cultures 
makes you a more rounded person.”

“To begin with, our conversation 
was mostly about our differences, 
which meant we learnt from each 
other,” agrees fellow NCS graduate 
Waj, 16. “People think difference will 
tear people apart, but it actually 
brings people closer together, 
and that’s powerful.”

“Casey definitely learnt a lot about my 
culture, and she taught me to try more 
new things. She’ll give anything a go! Also, 
before I visited where she lives, I wouldn’t 
have been completely comfortable about 
going to a predominantly white area, in 
case there was some kind of hate there.”

“Integration is really important,” 
continues Waj. “We’re such an 
ethnically diverse country, so it’s great 
when people get to meet people from 
different backgrounds, like at NCS. 
For me, having friends from different 
races and religions means you get 
to learn different things every day. 
It makes you more knowledgeable 
and well informed. And you get 
to try lots of different foods!”
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16% of 2017 ncs
participants

of 2017 ncs

participants

minority religions*
are from

participants

(black, asian and
minority ethnic*)

receive free
school meals

self-classify as

15%
5% of our participants

following ncs,
participants from the most
segregated communities

more likely to
became almost 20%

mix positively
with other ethnic groups**

had special needs
or disabilities

national equivalent*
compared with a 2%

29%
compared with 12% nationally*

Bame

*	 NCS data
**	 Independent research report Meeting, Mixing, 

Mending: How NCS Impacts Young People’s Social 
Integration, February 2018

“NCS is making a massive difference 
to young people and to local 
communities in Salford and Trafford. 
It enables people from very different 
backgrounds and with different 
abilities to meet, mix and make lasting 
connections and relationships. Many 
of these young people simply wouldn’t 
have met each other if it wasn’t for 
NCS – even though they live within a 
few miles of each other. Consequently, 
NCS is building stronger, more inclusive 
communities, and creating a generation 
that is motivated to make a difference 
through social action and volunteering 
throughout their lives.”

PHIL EAST
Deputy Chief Executive, Salford Foundation 
(NCS delivery partner)
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SOCIAL ENGAGEMENT
NCS continues to build positive connections between young 
people and their local communities, using social action 
initiatives to develop more aware, responsible, democratically 
active and socially engaged citizens for the future. This legacy 
lasts well beyond the programme, with many participants 
going on to volunteer longer term in their local area.

Ensuring continuing engagement  
and the benefits of thinking big
“2017 was our fifth summer working 
with NCS,” says Dav Doone, Project 
Officer for Leeds United Foundation, 
the charitable arm of the football club. 
“We worked with hundreds of young 
people, and it’s going up each year.

“One of the biggest social action 
projects we’ve worked on has been 
with Batley Homeless Project,” he 
continues. “NCS graduates completely 
renovated a council-owned building 
and turned it into a youth centre, 
which now hosts around 80 young 
people a week. Together with staff, 
they got donations from supermarkets 
to feed local homeless people, then 
put in a shower and toilet facilities, so 
homeless people who need to freshen 
up can drop by during the week.”

“Many youth centres in the local 
area are shutting down, so it’s good 
to have somewhere on the estate 
that young people can go to socialise 
and get advice or supervision if 
needed. It’s also a great example of 
the impact you can have if you think 
outside the box. The young people 
here have become really invested, 
and can see the benefits of putting 
long-term effort in, rather than just 
doing something for a couple of 
weeks. Most NCS participants have 
continued to put something back into 
the community. They usually return 
after the programme, with many 
becoming project ambassadors 
or staff members.”
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10 million
hours given by ncs

feel they can make

AFTER NCS, GRADUATES SAY

ncs encourages
young people to vote

in partnership with
bite the ballot and rock enrol

270 POLITICIANS

VISITED AN NCS
programme

(144 MPS AND 106 COUNCILlORS)

THEY FEEL MORE
EQUIPPED TO

TACKLE PROBLEMS

IN THEIR COMMUNITIES**

TO THEIR WORLD COMPaRED with
53% OF NON-PARTICIPANTS**

participants to social
action projects

68% of ncs
graduates

a difference

*	 NCS data
**	 DCMS Evaluation, December 2017
	 www.ncsyes.co.uk/sites/default/files/NCS%20

2016%20EvaluationReport_FINAL.pdf

“NCS graduates make a real, lasting 
difference. A stand-out moment for 
me was last summer when I visited 
a group of our NCSers running a free 
summer club with the local community 
centre for their social action project. 
The coordinator of the club, Fern, 
was one of our graduates from autumn 
2016! She had continued her NCS 
journey after completing the 
programme by applying to sit on the 
committee of the community centre, 
where she now organises various 
programmes for residents with local 
council funding. Her pilot programmes 
went so well that they’ve been rolled 
out across the borough. We can’t 
wait to go back and support her 
with future NCSers!”

BETH HOYLE
Senior NCS Programme Coordinator, 
APM (NCS delivery partner)

“The future success of Kirklees lies 
in young people being active citizens, 
willing to contribute their ideas and 
enthusiasm to make the area an 
even better place to live, learn, work 
and play. Which is why we want all 
eligible teens in Kirklees to have the 
opportunity to take part in NCS. 
It offers them an amazing once-
in‑a‑lifetime experience that grows 
confidence and self-belief. It not only 
benefits them as individuals, but also 
our local communities, education 
providers and, in the longer term, 
local businesses.” 

CLLR MASOOD AHMED
Cabinet Member for Community Cohesion 
and Schools, Kirklees Council
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financial results (£m)

2017/182016/17

Income

183.6187.7 183.2185.7

Expenditure

FINANCIAL REVIEW
This review provides a summary of the Trust’s financial 
performance for 2017/18, as relates to these financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. 

The Trust, which is primarily funded through a Central 
Government grant, operated at a surplus for the year, 
due to an increase in self-generated income. However, 
our government grant is only used for expenditure directly 
linked to delivery of our programme and associated costs.

Our Central Government grant funding increased to pay 
for additional participants (2018: 99,000; 2017: 93,000) 
as well as investment in the Trust’s ongoing development.

Our Income
Central Government Grant – £181.1m (2017: £180.5m) 
We receive funding from Central Government. Funding 
limits are approved on an annual basis, and linked to 
target participant numbers. 

Other Income – £4.6m (2017: £7.2m) 
The Trust also generates income directly from parental 
contributions to the programme, and partnership income 
from corporate sponsorship. 

Our Costs
Delivery Partner Costs – £146.5m (2017: £148.4m)
The significant portion (2018: 80.9%; 2017: 82.2%) of the 
Central Government grant is distributed through our nine 
regional delivery partners (RDPs), which work with over 
100 local delivery partners (LDPs) to pay for delivery of 
the programme. In 2017, NCS continued in its role as RDP 
for one of the regions, working directly with LDPs. 

Support Costs – £33.6m (2017: £25.9m)
The Trust manages key central functions, including 
Marketing, Strategy, Operational Support, Partnerships, 
IT, People & Office and Finance, all of which support the 
continued delivery of the programme and growth of NCS. 
Crucially, by providing these services centrally, on behalf 
of the network, we can decrease duplication, improve 
quality, and reduce costs in the long term. 

Strategic Investment Costs
The following costs are included in delivery and support costs.

Staff Costs – £10.3m
In order to continue growth in our programme delivery 
at the levels agreed with Central Government, we needed 
to invest in increasing our staffing at the Trust, resulting 
in a cost increase of £4.7m. 

Call Centre Costs – £1.6m
Our Call Centre handles a monthly average of 31,256 calls 
(24,979 outbound and 6,277 inbound) and 2,524 live chats 
a month. 
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Customer Relationship Management – £0.9m
In order to engage with higher numbers of young people 
and parents, NCS uses targeted direct mailing to contact 
homes we have recognised as potentially interested 
in the programme.

Salesforce – £1.8m
This year we negotiated a five-year licensing deal with 
Salesforce.org. The deal is one of the largest of its type 
in the not-for-profit sector at £1.8m per year. It provides 
NCS with a significant discount, and the volume and mix 
of licences to power the information services we need 
to manage and continually improve our programme. Our 
relationship with Salesforce.org, which is a standalone 
social enterprise, is deepening and we believe there 
will be further opportunities for us to benefit from 
working together.

Reserves Policy
In order to support the financial management of the Trust, 
reserve funds held consist of unutilised funds received 
from other income sources and parental contributions.

Working Capital
At the end of the year, our working capital was £6.1m  
(2017: £3.4m). The increase is as a result of the Trust’s 
receipt of £3.7m in parental contributions, which are  
held as part of our reserves policy.

The Trust follows the Prompt Payment Code as 
launched by the Department for Business Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (sponsored by the Institute of Credit 
Management). Details of the code can be found on the 
website www.promptpaymentcode.org.uk. Only 3.0% 
(2017: 0.8%) of the trade payables balance at 31 March  
was older than 30 days.
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20182017 20182017 20182017

90%

Local authorities compliant with participant mix

Ethnicity Free school 
meals

special 
educational needs

89%
80%

93%90% 88%91%90%
80%

90%90% 89%

KPI Actual

20182017

KPI

2017

92,715

TOTAL NO. OF FILLED PLACES Participant completion rate

100,000
90% 93%

2018

99,179101,000
93% 92%

Actual

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
How we performed against our key performance indicators.

Objective 1: Increase demand to fill places and improve 
retention of participants

➔➔ Total number of filled places: KPI 101,000 vs Actual 
98,808* (NOT MET)

➔➔ Total number of core spring programme participants: 
KPI 2,531 vs Actual 2,455 (NOT MET)

➔➔ Total number of core summer programme participants: 
KPI 81,963 vs Actual 82,561 (MET)

➔➔ Total number of core autumn programme participants: 
KPI 16,486 vs Actual 13,792 (NOT MET)

➔➔ Attrition (% of sign-ups not participating): KPI 19% 
vs Actual 22% (NOT MET)

➔➔ Participant completion rate: KPI 93% vs Actual 92% 
(NOT MET)

*	 The annual participation figure reported does not include 371 participants  
in Northern Ireland (249 in summer 2017, and a further 122 in autumn).

A participant is defined as a young person who attends 
at least the first day of an NCS programme and is based 
on data recorded by delivery partners.

A young person is counted as attrition if they have 
completed the sign up process (including payment) 
but then do not attend the programme.

Objective 2: Ensure delivery of high quality NCS places
➔➔ Participant Net Promoter Score KPI 55% vs Actual 
62% (MET)

The Net Promoter Score® (NPS®) is based on feedback 
collected from participants at the end of the programme. 
Rant & Rave collects the data submitted and passes this 
to NCS to work out an NPS® based on the responses, with 
detractors (scores of 0–6) subtracted from promoters 
(score of 9–10).

Local authorities compliant with participant mix:

➔➔ Ethnicity: KPI 90% vs Actual 91% (MET)

➔➔ Free school meals: KPI 90% vs Actual 89% (NOT MET)

➔➔ Special educational needs: KPI 80% vs Actual 90% (MET)

The above three KPIs are calculated based on information 
provided by NCS participants to their delivery partner.
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ActualKPI ActualKPI ActualKPI ActualKPI

77% 79%

Social cohesion: Social mobility:  Leadership: Civic engagement: 

Participants more 
confident to find 
a job

Participants 
confident to 
lead a team

Participants 
feeling able to 
influence the world 
around them

Participants with 
positive experiences 
with people from 
different 
backgrounds

80%
74%

68% 66%63% 62%

Successful new 
partnerships

Prompted awareness 
among parents

20182017

5

3

2018

8

5

45% 45%

KPI Actual

Objective 3: Improve programme impact
➔➔ Social cohesion: Participants with positive experiences 
with people from different backgrounds: KPI 80% vs 
Actual 77% (NOT MET)

This is based on responses to the question: “I feel more 
positive towards people from different backgrounds” 
in the 2017 impact evaluation.

➔➔ Social mobility: Participants more confident to find  
a job: KPI 74% vs Actual 79% (MET)

This is based on responses to the question: “I now 
feel more confident about getting a job” in the 2017 
impact evaluation.

➔➔ Leadership: Participants confident to lead a team:  
KPI 63% vs Actual 62% (NOT MET)

This is based on responses to the question: “How  
confident do you feel being the leader of a team”  
in the 2017 impact evaluation.

➔➔ Civic engagement: Participants feeling able to influence 
the world around them: KPI 68% vs Actual 66% (NOT MET)

This is based on responses to the statement: “I am 
more likely to help out in my local area” in the 2017 
impact evaluation.

Please note data not yet published and therefore should be considered draft. 
The targets have been set based on the 2015 evaluation, now used to judge  
the 2017 results.

Objective 4: Secure sustainability by building a broad 
base of support

➔➔ Successful new partnerships: KPI 5 vs Actual 8 (MET)

Successful new partnerships are defined as those which 
are agreed with organisations NCS has not previously 
worked with before.

➔➔ Prompted awareness among parents: KPI 45% vs Actual 
45% (MET)

This is the awareness of NCS among parents or guardians of 
15–17 year olds, as captured by surveys issued by Crowd DNA.
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All-in unit cost of core programme 
– financial year

Amount of non-government 
funding achieved

20182017 2017

£1,783£1,794

£10m £10m

2018

£1,692£1,773

£10.0m*

£17.2m**

KPI Actual

*	 of which £1.0m should be in cash
**	 of which £0.4m in cash

Objective 5: Increase value for money for taxpayers 
➔➔ All-in unit cost of core 2017 programme – calendar year: 
KPI £1,816 vs Actual £1,738 (MET)

Calendar year unit cost calculations are based on the 
National Audit Office methodology of apportioning 
financial year spend to align with calendar year 
participation. This accounts for the prepayments NCS 
makes to its partners to deliver the programmes.

NCS takes the financial year spend on provider payments, 
Trust operating costs and special projects/investment 
for 2016/17 and 2017/18. This spend is then allocated to 
the calendar year that it relates to. This split is 59% : 41%. 
These percentages reflect the proportions of spend in the 
financial year which are used to fund each calendar year’s 
participation. 2017 calendar year cost is therefore equal 
to 41% of the spend in financial year 2016/17 and 59% of 
the spend in 2017/18. This 2017 calendar year cost is then 
divided by 2017 participation, to give the 2017 calendar 
year unit cost.

➔➔ All-in unit cost of core 2017 programme – financial year: 
KPI £1,773 vs Actual £1,692 (MET)

Financial year unit cost calculations apportion the 
calendar year participant numbers to financial years. 
This accounts for the prepayments the Trust makes to its 
partners to deliver NCS programmes and essentially gives 
the number of NCS places funded from a given financial 
year’s budget.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS CONTINUED

Calendar year participation figures are split across financial 
years using the same percentage splits used to calculate 
calendar year unit costs (59%:41%). For 2017/18, the number 
of places funded for the budget is equal to 59% of the 2017 
participants, plus 41% of the 2018 participants.

The expected total 2017/18 spend is then divided by the 
apportioned participant number, to give the 2017/18 
financial year unit cost.

➔➔ Places commissioned that did not result in a participant: 
KPI 2,020 vs Actual 5,888 (NOT MET)

Defined as places which were commissioned and paid 
for by NCS but then were not subsequently filled. This  
is calculated after accounting for places which were  
de-commissioned, where that de-commissioning resulted  
in no financial loss to the Trust.

➔➔ Amount of non-government funding achieved: KPI 
£10.0m of which £1.0m should be in cash vs Actual 
£17.2m of which £0.4m in cash (MET)

Includes any sponsorship, discount or gift in kind received 
by the Trust. Also includes any revenue generated by the 
Trust, other than contributions made by parents to secure 
a young person a place on an NCS programme.



� NCS Trust 
� Annual Report and Accounts 2018

� 23

ActualKPI ActualKPI

7,436

Number of standard 
innovation places 
commissioned

Number of non-standard 
innovation places 
commissioned

8,739

3,589 3,196

Objective 6: Develop innovative approaches  
to the NCS programme

➔➔ Number of standard innovation places commissioned: 
KPI 8,789 vs Actual 7,492 (NOT MET)

Standard innovation means the place is delivered through 
existing provision or additional provision that is otherwise 
entirely in line with existing provision.

➔➔ Number of non-standard innovation places 
commissioned: KPI 3,589 vs Actual 3,196 (NOT MET)

Non-standard innovation means the place is either not directly 
on a standard NCS programme, or involves a completed 
new provider, or a delivery model that is fundamentally  
a step away from anything that currently exists.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Principal Activities
The principal activity of the company during the year 
was that of managing the delivery of the National Citizen 
Service programme.

Results
The Trust had a surplus of £2.5m (2017: £4.1m).

Financial Instruments
The Trust does not utilise complex financial instruments.

Matters of Strategic Importance
The directors have chosen in accordance with section 
414C(11) of the Companies Act 2006 to include in the 
strategic report information in respect of business 
activities and risk as the directors consider these 
are of strategic importance to the company.

Risk Management
NCS aims to maintain high standards of corporate 
governance, including effective management of risks 
across the organisation. The system of internal control 
is designed to manage risk to an acceptable target 
level rather than to eliminate all risk. 

During the year we have continued our efforts to improve 
our risk management assessment and management 
capability. This year has seen the Board review its appetite 
for risk against each item on the corporate risk register. 
Two members of our management team have become 
certified Risk Practitioners this year, helping to further 
embed risk consideration into our decision making 
processes and to continue to improve the function. 
We have also brought about greater consistency in 
our departmental risk registers so that they mirror 
our corporate process.

We continue to follow a three lines of defence model. 
The first line is our operational management, who own 
the assessment, ownership and control of risks. The  
second line of defence consists of control functions  
including Finance, IT and the Portfolio Management  
Office, which monitor and facilitate the implementation 
of effective risk management. The third line is provided 
by the independent internal and external audit functions 
as overseen by the Audit and Risk Committee.

Once a risk is identified it is scored based on the likelihood 
of it occurring, and the level of impact it would have if 
realised. Risks are scored in terms of their inherent risk, 
before any mitigating controls are applied, their residual 
risk after mitigating controls are applied, and also against 
a target. Risks are considered against the organisation’s 
primary strategic objectives.

The Senior Leadership Team reviews the corporate 
risk register on a monthly basis, ensuring an action plan 
is in place to mitigate against key risks. This is further 
supported by an assessment of individual project risk 
and any aggregate risks managed by the Portfolio 
Management Office. The corporate risk register is 
also reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee on a 
quarterly basis. We are working to ensure the concept 
of risk management is more deeply embedded in the 
organisation, and that all relevant people receive training 
in how to assess and manage risk. Potential risks are 
considered against the strategic aim that they could 
impact upon. Selected principal risks and uncertainties 
are outlined below, along with some of our key 
mitigating controls.
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Increase demand to fill places, improve  
retention and deliver high quality places 

Principal Risks Key Mitigating Actions

Insufficient participant numbers

NCS has made a commitment to the Government to 
deliver 110,000 places to young people aged 16–17 in 
2018. In order to do so, it needs to ensure the programme 
reaches sufficient numbers of potential participants and 
their supporters, and that they are aware of how to sign up.

We have implemented a regular cross-functional seasonal 
delivery model meeting which focuses on the summer 
2018 campaign. 

Our integrated strategy, business plan and budget 
processes help to identify the appropriate current 
and future year projects to promote and deliver the 
programme with our regional and local delivery partners. 
We also provide these partners with central support 
for all branding, sales and marketing activity.

We continue to work to access and explore opportunities 
within policy support or use of government data.

Increase value for  
money for taxpayers

Principal Risks Key Mitigating Actions

Insufficient financial controls

As a publicly funded organisation, we have a fiduciary 
duty to ensure funds are managed and assets protected.

We have reviewed our existing controls around payments 
both in terms of the validation of data in our systems and 
the control mechanisms within the organisation. This has 
included a review of system access rights and enhanced 
segregation of duties. 

We approved a new Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery policy 
during the year.

Our business units are supported by finance business 
partners to help them review their performance and 
monitor their expenditure against budget. Our Senior 
Leadership Team also reviews our management 
accounts each month.

Increase demand to fill places, improve  
retention and deliver high quality places 

Principal Risks Key Mitigating Actions

Data protection breaches

NCS manages a significant amount of sensitive 
information, particularly due to its work with young 
people. At a time when cyber threats are significant, 
it is paramount we have sufficient controls in place, 
not only to comply with the Data Protection Act 1998 
and guard against cyber security threats, but also 
to protect our participants.

Our system has undergone further improvements, including 
the use of strong encryption for the storage of key personal 
data we manage, and the robust management of user 
accounts on our key systems to minimise the risk of 
inappropriate access.

We are redesigning systems to reduce the amount of data 
transfer between different systems and have developed 
Information Management and Privacy policies. During the 
year we also developed an information asset register.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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Future Developments 
The Trust aims to secure increased participation in the 
programme in 2018/19 as it aspires to grow, reduce costs, 
improve quality and build broad-based support.

The Trust is focused on driving growth by increasing 
awareness, focused marketing and improving the young 
person’s experience from showing interest in NCS to 
participating and graduating. NCS Trust is doing this 
by continuing to invest in a centralised operating and 
customer relationship management system to enable 
a better journey and increase recruitment.

Qualifying Third Party Indemnity Provisions
The Trust has made qualifying third party 
indemnity provisions for its directors during the 
year. These provisions remain in force at the 
reporting date.

Auditor 
The auditor, RSM UK Audit LLP, is deemed to be 
reappointed under section 487(2) of the Companies 
Act 2006.

Statement of Disclosure to the Auditor 
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the company’s auditor is 
unaware. Additionally, the directors have taken all the 
necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors 
in order to make themselves aware of all relevant audit 
information and to establish that the company’s auditor 
is aware of that information.

Approval of Annual Report
The Annual Report and Accounts, including the 
Remuneration Report, was approved by the Board 
for signature on 01 October 2018.

On behalf of the Board	 On behalf of the Board

	

STEPHEN GREENE	 MICHAEL LYNAS
CHAIR			   CEO

NCS registered office: The Pembroke Building, Kensington 
Village, Avonmore Road, London, W14 8DG
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REMUNERATION REPORT
Our Remuneration Approach
Our remuneration approach ensures that money is well 
spent to attract, motivate and retain our people, while 
driving up individual and collective performance, and 
ensuring we advance equality and do not discriminate. 

Our Remuneration Committee
Our Remuneration Committee meets as required and 
approves NCS Trust’s remuneration policy, executive 
director remuneration and any performance award 
payment linked to organisational results. The Committee 
consists of four non-executive directors, including the 
Chair of the Board and a government representative, 
in order to ensure accountability and transparency.

Remuneration of Employees
Salaries are reviewed annually to ensure payments are 
appropriate for a non-profit, publicly funded organisation. 
Reviews are based on market rates for our sector, 
performance against agreed objectives, competency 
in core skill areas and living organisational values. We are 
committed to paying the Living Wage for all employees.

In order to motivate our people to achieve our 
ambitious targets, eligible employees who have shown 
very strong performance may receive a discretionary 
annual performance award payment of up to 10% of 

their base salary. This is calculated based on individual 
performance, determined by performance review 
scores; and organisational results, based on performance 
against government agreed key performance indicators. 
The percentage of the performance award linked to 
organisational results is awarded by our Remuneration 
Committee made up of non-executive Board directors. 

Executive Director Remuneration
Our executive director remuneration is based on 
what is required to attract, motivate and retain high 
calibre leaders who will drive the performance of the 
organisation, whilst ensuring that public money is 
well spent. We benchmark all salaries to ensure that 
executive director remuneration is proportionate 
to that of other employees.

Performance award payments for our Senior Leadership 
Team are based solely on the organisation’s results 
against government agreed key performance indicators 
and the percentage applied (up to a maximum of 10%) 
is determined by the Remuneration Committee.

Our Pension Plan
We offer our employees a 5% non-contributory pension 
plan. Employees can contribute to this pension at a rate 
of their choice, enabling them to flexibly plan for their 
retirement as their individual circumstances allow.

THE REMUNERATION OF the SENIOR LEADERSHIP TEAM

ANNUALISED  
SALARY  
(£’000)

GROSS SALARY 
(£’000)

PERFORMANCE 
AWARD  
(£’000)

EMPLOYER’S  
PENSION 

CONTRIBUTIONS 
(£’000)

BENEFITS  
(£’000)

TOTAL  
(£’000)

SENIOR  
LEADERSHIP TEAM* 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

Michael Lynas
Chief Executive Officer 115–120 115–120 115–120 115–120 0–5 0–5 5–10 5–10 – – 125–130 125–130

Natasha Kizzie*

Director of Marketing & 
Communications 115–120 115–120 110–115 115–120 –** 0–5 5–10 5–10 – 0–1 115–120 125–130

Kate Wood
Chief People Officer 140–145 140–145 140–145 80–85 0–5 0–5 5–10 0–5 5–10 0–5 160–165 90–95

Joann Passingham***

Chief Financial & 
Commercial Officer 135–140 – 40–45 – 0–1 – 0–5 – – – 40–45 –

Jeroen Sabbe
Director of Strategy & 
Implementation 70–75 70–75 70–75 30–35 0–5 0–1 0–5 0–1 – – 75–80 30–35

Simon Woods
Director of IT 95–100 95–100 95–100 15–20 0–5 – 0–5 – – – 100–105 15–20

*	 Left 03 March 2018
**	 Ineligible for performance award as left before the year end
***	Joined 11 December 2017
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PEOPLE REPORT
Our people are our most important 
asset and are responsible, with our 
partners, for the NCS programme – 
the country’s fastest growing and 
largest programme for 16–17 year 
olds – which has supported over 
400,000 young people to have 
life‑changing experiences.

We aim to attract, develop, motivate and retain the right 
diverse people with a winning culture to achieve our 
strategy and targets, whilst ensuring we are ready to 
leverage performance and deliver growth. 

Our people are based in three offices – Exeter, London and 
Newcastle – and during 2017/18 NCS Trust had a monthly 
average of 183 employees. Employee costs are included  
in Note 6 to the Financial Statements.

Growing Our Capability
We are reaching more young people than ever before and 
continue to significantly increase our capability in order to 
facilitate the ongoing growth of the NCS programme and 
prepare for our transition to a Royal Charter body.

We have introduced Chief roles to add further commercial 
and specialist skills to our Senior Leadership Team and 
draw from their varied experienced backgrounds as we 
grow. Deep specialists in key areas such as safeguarding, 
information security and innovation have joined our team 
to further our work in these vital areas.

We are committed to providing opportunities for young 
people within NCS Trust, through apprenticeships, 
opportunities in our annual conference and roles at Kick 
Start (an extension programme for graduates of the 
NCS programme) and the Passchendaele centenary 
commemoration.

The establishment of a small, in-house recruitment team 
has increased our effectiveness in finding talented, diverse 
and dedicated people to join our organisation. In 2017/18, 
61% of our recruitment was direct (no fees), ensuring that 
we recruit in a timely, fair and transparent manner, whilst 
ensuring we get value for money for NCS Trust.

Engaging Our People
We are dedicated to engaging with our people and our 
customers, the young people of our country, are at the 
heart of our approach. 

We encourage all of our employees to continuously 
connect with the NCS programme and our customers 
through programme visits, working with our National and 
Regional Youth Boards, attending key annual events such 
as Kick Start and our annual conference. 
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Our CEO leads our weekly all-team meetings in our 
London office, broadcasting live to our people on the 
road and in our Exeter and Newcastle offices. At these 
meetings we share current progress against our strategy 
and targets, as well as important business updates and 
messages from our partners and our customers. 

This year we refreshed the format of our annual People 
survey, which received a phenomenal 99% response rate. 
Our people are highly engaged, with 86% telling us that 
“NCS Trust is a good place to work”. 86% of our people 
also said that NCS Trust would change for the better or 
be the same next year and we have established working 
groups on our key improvement areas to harness our 
people’s insights to build on our success.

This year we have also introduced People Champions 
for each of our teams and locations to spread good 
practice and ensure continuous improvement on all  
people matters.

The Trust also operates a volunteering policy for 
employees to encourage engagement in other social 
action and charitable projects.

Developing Our People
Our people are our most important asset and we 
provide learning and development opportunities 
to assist them to deliver brilliant results and develop 
their skills and capabilities.

For all our people, their journey starts with an 
onboarding programme to help them learn about 
our mission and values as an organisation and to help 
them deliver successfully. We encourage learning and 
development through on the job experiences, and we 
offer a comprehensive programme of skills development 
which is open to all of our employees. Attendance 
at these programmes is aligned to agreed personal 
development plans to assist our employees to perform; 
these are supported by their line managers to ensure 
maximum impact. 

We also encourage our people to explore external 
learning opportunities and, with the support of a business 
case process, offer funding for professional qualifications 
related to their role to enhance their skills and set them 
up for success in the future. Finally, we offer professional 
coaching with our Head of Learning and Development, 
who is a qualified coach with 20 years’ experience; this 
offers our people specific and targeted support.

All courses in our core learning programme are continually 
evaluated and reviewed to ensure they deliver the best 
learning experience possible for our people and that  
there are significant benefits to NCS Trust. Our people 
have scored the quality of their learning experience at  
an average of 4.6 out of 5.

Diversity and Inclusion
NCS Trust’s policy is to advance equality, and value 
diversity and differences while preventing discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation. 

NCS Trust is committed to an active Equal Opportunities 
policy from recruitment, through learning and 
development, performance reviews, remuneration and 
promotion to retirement. All our employment decisions 
are objective, free from bias and based solely upon 
work criteria and individual performance contribution. 

People with disabilities will continue to be given full 
and fair consideration for employment opportunities 
at NCS Trust. We will reasonably make adjustments to 
support our people with disabilities who work at NCS 
Trust to ensure appropriate training, development and 
advancement opportunities are available to enable 
them to reach their full potential.

PEOPLE REPORT CONTINUED
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
The directors are responsible for 
preparing the Strategic Report, 
Directors’ Report and the financial 
statements, in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements 
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and applicable law). Under company law the 
directors must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of 
the company for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

➔➔ select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

➔➔ make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

➔➔ prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
company will continue in business;

➔➔ state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards 
have been followed, subject to any material departure 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Our CEO and Chair, supported 
by the Board of Directors, have 
responsibility for maintaining a 
sound system of internal control 
that supports the achievement 
of NCS’s community interest aims 
and objectives, as set out in its 
Articles of Association.

Additionally, as part of our funding agreement with  
Her Majesty’s Government (HMG), our Board is required 
to follow guidelines set by DCMS, with the purpose of 
safeguarding public funds.

Our Board
Our Board consists of both executive members and non-
executive members, with a majority of non-executive 
directors. Non-executive directors are selected so as to 
provide a diverse skills set to the Trust, and support the 
executive directors in achieving its vision and mission, 
living its values, and helping to manage and mitigate risk.

Method of Appointment
The Board strives to achieve representation from people 
of different ages, religions, ethnicities and socio-economic 
groups, and to meet or exceed the Government’s target 
of 25% female representation.

In order to achieve a diverse skills set, non-executive 
members are appointed as follows:

➔➔ A member appointed by the Government

➔➔ A member with passion for citizenship and social action

➔➔ A member with legal and procurement experience

➔➔ A member with FTSE 100 and operations experience

➔➔ A member with voluntary and youth sector experience

➔➔ A member with experience of digital engagement

➔➔ A member who can represent youth or youth culture

➔➔ A member with experience in corporate strategy

➔➔ A member with experience of education

➔➔ A member with brand partnership experience

Review of Effectiveness
The Board members receive appropriate updates on NCS 
Trust’s financial positions, forecasts, risks and performance 
against strategic goals at their scheduled meetings.

Our CEO and Chair of the Board have responsibility 
for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. This review is informed by the work of the internal 
auditors and the Senior Leadership within NCS Trust who 
have responsibility for the development and maintenance 
of the internal control framework, and comments made 
by the external auditor in its management letters and 
other reports.
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Organisational Structure
The Board delegates specific responsibilities to its Committees. 
Recommendations made by Committees are presented  
to the Board as a whole for approval. A brief description  
of each Committee and its function is given below. 

Internal Controls
The system of internal control is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify the principal risks to the 
achievement of policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate 
the nature and extent of those risks and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

Key risks and the Board’s mitigation strategy are outlined 
on page 26. As NCS works with young people, we take 
seriously the additional risks associated with their safety 
and data. 

Independent Assurance
As part of HMG’s funding agreement with NCS, HMG 
places certain requirements on our Board to ensure 
governance of NCS Trust is sufficiently robust. In order  
to comply with these requirements, NCS undertakes 
internal audit reviews, conducted by an external firm of 
accountants. Six internal audits were conducted during  
the year. Areas covered included governance policies, 
data security and safeguarding.

Structure
The Trust is a Community Interest Company limited 
by guarantee. The directors remain committed to high 
standards of best practice in corporate governance. 
Whilst not bound by the provisions of the Code of Best 
Practice identified within the Combined Code, the Trust 
aims to ensure that it complies with best practice in all 
relevant areas.

The Trust’s governance framework consists of a Board, 
and a number of sub-committees, all of which report 
to the Board. The directors believe they have full and 
timely access to all relevant information required to 
carry out their functions. Registers of directors’ interests 
are maintained.

The Board
➔➔ Consists of the Chair and 10 Directors 

(2 executive, 7 non-executive, 
1 Government appointed)

➔➔ Exists to establish corporate strategy 
in order for the Trust to effectively, 
impartially and independently carry 
out its functions

➔➔ Expects to meet quarterly

Audit and Risk 
Committee

➔➔ Consists of 4 
non-executive 
directors, 1 of 
whom chairs

➔➔ Reviews Board 
plans, budgets, 
internal control 
arrangements, 
financial 
statements, 
internal and 
external audit 
reports and 
the Trust’s 
risk register 

➔➔ Meets at least 
4 times a year

Remuneration 
Committee

➔➔ Consists of 3 
non-executive 
directors, 1 of 
whom chairs

➔➔ Sets the 
remuneration 
policy for 
executive 
directors, 
as well as 
review of 
performance 
pay

➔➔ Meets when 
required

Nominations 
Committee

➔➔ Consists of 4 
non-executive 
directors, 1 of 
whom chairs

➔➔ Looks at the 
makeup of 
the Board, 
succession 
planning and 
identifying 
candidates

➔➔ Meets when 
required
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

Board and Committee Attendance

NAME BOARD

AUDIT 
AND RISK 

COMMITTEE
REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE
NOMINATIONS 

COMMITTEE

Mr Stephen Greene (Chair of Board and Co-Chair 
of Remuneration Committee) 4/4 2/2 1/1 2/2

Mr Michael Lynas 4/4 – – –

Ms Natasha Kizzie (resigned 3 March 2018) 3/4 – – –

Dame Martina Milburn DVCO CBE 3/4 – 1/1 –

Dame Julia Cleverdon DCVO CBE 4/4 – – 2/2

The Rt Hon. the Lord Blunkett 3/4 – – –

Mr Shaun Whatling 4/4 – – 2/2

Mr Nick Farnhill (Chair of Nominations Committee) 4/4 – – 2/2

Mr John Harley (resigned 12 April 2017) 1/1 – – –

Mr John Maltby (appointed 14 June 2017 and also Chair of 
Audit and Risk Committee) 2/2 3/3 – –

Ms Sue Gray (also Co-Chair of Remuneration Committee) 3/4 2/4 1/1 –

Ms Pippa Dunn 3/4 3/4 – –
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BIOGRAPHIES
Executive Directors

Mr Michael Lynas 
CEO
Michael was appointed CEO 
of NCS Trust in January 2014, 
after joining NCS as Director 
of Strategy in February 2013. 
Michael joined NCS from No. 
10 where he was a Senior Civil 
Servant in the Policy Unit. In 
addition to his central role in 
establishing NCS, his main work 
was on civil society, culture 
and philanthropy. Michael has 
previously worked as a Strategy 
Consultant for Bain & Co. He has 
an MA in Politics from Cambridge 
University and a Masters in Public 
Policy from the Kennedy School 
of Government at Harvard.

Ms Natasha Kizzie 
Director of Marketing 
and Communications 
Resigned 3 March 2018
Natasha is a youth marketing 
specialist with over 13 years’ 
broad category experience in 
the private sector. Most recently 
she was Head of Entertainment 
for Arnold KLP. She was 
the strategic business lead 
responsible for creative ideation 
for all entertainment new 
business account wins: Guinness, 
Smirnoff Ice, Hennessy, Orange 
UK, Orange Group, Nokia and 
Bacardi. She has a successful 
track record conceiving and 
delivering youth and young 
adult 360 cross-channel 
communications campaigns that 
drive awareness, consideration 
and engagement.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr Stephen Greene 
Chair
As CEO and co-founder of 
RockCorps, Stephen delivered 
social engagement platforms in 
ten countries around the world, 
across six continents. He is also 
a trustee of The Fowler Center, 
GoodGym and The Young 
Camden Foundation. Following 
his adviser role to the UK Office 
for Civil Society from 2010, 
Stephen was appointed Chair  
of NCS Trust in November 2012.

Dame Martina Milburn 
DVCO CBE
Martina is Group Chief Executive 
of The Prince’s Trust. Prior to 
joining The Trust, Martina was 
Chief Executive of BBC Children 
in Need. She co-chairs the Youth 
Action Group, which includes 
voluntary sector organisations 
and nine government 
departments.

The Rt Hon. the Lord Blunkett
With a political career starting 
when he was 22, David was 
elected to Parliament in 1987. 
He became Education and 
Employment Secretary in 1997, 
Home Secretary in 2001, and 
Work and Pensions Secretary 
in 2005. In September 2015 he 
was appointed to the House of 
Lords. David is also Chairman of 
the David Ross Multi Academy 
Charitable Trust and a patron of 
City Year UK.

Dame Julia Cleverdon 
DCVO CBE
Dame Julia is Chair of the 
National Literacy Trust, Vice 
Patron of Teach First and Vice 
President of Business in the 
Community. Julia is a co-founder 
and trustee of Step Up To Serve 
and the #iwill campaign and sits 
on the board of the Careers and 
Enterprise Company. She also 
chairs Transform – an alliance of 
Teach First, Police Now, Unlocked, 
Think Ahead and Frontline 
to collaborate on the many 
common issues facing public 
service leadership.

Mr Shaun Whatling
Shaun has 20 years’ experience 
working in marketing for both 
the public and the private sector, 
including co-founding one 
of the world’s leading action-
sports agencies. He is now the 
CEO of the strategic consultancy 
Redmandarin.

Mr Nick Farnhill
Nick is a founding partner 
of POKE, a creative ‘practice’ 
focused on delivering original 
and effective interactive 
communications across all digital 
platforms and channels. He’s also 
founder and co-chair of Internet 
Week Europe and the Lovie 
Awards. In 2017, he became CEO 
of Publicis London. 

Ms Sue Gray
Sue joined the Cabinet Office 
in the late 1990s. Before joining 
the Cabinet Office, she worked 
in Transport, Health and the 
Department for Work and 
Pensions covering a range of 
roles which included both policy 
and frontline delivery.

Mr John Harley
Resigned 12 April 2017
John was a Senior Partner in EY 
until his retirement in 2011. He is 
now Chair of the University of 
Brighton and Deputy Chair of 
the EY Foundation. John sits on 
the Higher Education Funding 
Council for England’s Audit 
Committee and is also a Panel 
member for the Competition 
Commission. Previously he was 
Chair of Groundwork London. 
John also chairs Trade River 
Finance Limited, the Kent Investor 
Network and the Becket Trust, an 
affordable housing charity.

Ms Pippa Dunn
Pippa Dunn is co-founder of 
Broody, the mission of which 
is to help turn great ideas into 
successful businesses. Previously, 
she was Chief Marketing Officer 
of Consumer at Everything 
Everywhere (EE). She joined 
Orange in 2003, holding various 
director roles. Prior to Orange, 
Pippa spent time at NTL and 
Coca-Cola.

Mr John Maltby
Appointed 14 June 2017
John has a portfolio of non-
executive roles. He is Chairman 
of Good Energy Group plc, an 
AIM listed renewable energy 
company. Additionally, he is 
Chairman of Scandinavian 
bank Bluestep Bank AS, non-
executive director of Bank of 
Ireland UK and non-executive 
director and Chairman of Risk 
& Audit for Tandem Bank plc. 
John’s executive career was 
primarily in banking as CDEO 
of Williams & Glyn; Group 
Director at Lloyds Banking 
Group; and CEO of Kensington 
Group. His early career was 
as a management consultant 
for Andersen Consulting and 
Price Waterhouse.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF NCS TRUST C.I.C (COMMUNITY INTEREST COMPANY)

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NCS Trust 
CIC (the ‘company’) for the year ended 31 March 2018 
which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, 
balance sheet, statement of cashflows and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

➔➔ give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of its surplus for the year 
then ended;

➔➔ have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice;

➔➔ have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the company in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us 
to report to you where:

➔➔ the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or 

➔➔ the directors have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the company’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from 
the date when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are 
responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, 
we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by 
the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course 
of the audit:

➔➔ the information given in the strategic report and 
the directors’ report for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements; and 

➔➔ the strategic report and the directors’ report have 
been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the 
company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements 
in the strategic report and the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

➔➔ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or 
returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

➔➔ the financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or



� NCS Trust 
� Annual Report and Accounts 2018

� 37

➔➔ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

➔➔ we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities 
statement set out on page 31, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.
uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part 
of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the company and the company’s members as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.

KERRY GALLAGHER  
(SENIOR STATUTORY AUDITOR)
FOR AND ON BEHALF OF RSM  
UK AUDIT LLP, STATUTORY AUDITOR 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Davidson House
Forbury Square
Reading
Berkshire
RG1 3EU

08 October 2018
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Turnover 3  185,678 187,661

Cost of sales (151,446) (157,642)

Gross profit 34,232 30,019

Administrative expenses (31,774) (25,910)

Operating surplus 4 2,458 4,109

Interest receivable and similar income 8 37 36

Surplus before taxation 2,495 4,145

Taxation 9 6 (13)

Surplus for the financial year 19 2,501 4,132
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BALANCE SHEET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017

NOTES £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 10 477 651

Tangible assets 11 244 227

721 878

Current assets

Stocks 12 91 228

Debtors 13 6,155 7,777

Cash at bank and in hand 13,134 23,312

19,380 31,317

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (13,240) (27,875)

Net current assets 6,140 3,442

Total assets less current liabilities 6,861 4,320

Provisions for liabilities 16 (87) (47)

Net assets 6,774 4,273

Capital and reserves

Profit and loss account 19 6,774 4,273

The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors and authorised for issue on 01 October 2018 and are 
signed on its behalf by:

MICHAEL LYNAS
DIRECTOR

Company Number:  08235117
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017

NOTE £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 22 (10,033) 15,032

Income taxes paid 6 (13)

Net cash inflow from operating activities (10,027) 15,019

Investing activities

Purchase of intangible assets – (348)

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (188) (39)

Interest received 37 36

Net cash used in investing activities (151) (351)

Net cash used in financing activities – –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (10,178) 14,668

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 23,312 8,644

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 13,134 23,312
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

1 Accounting policies
Company information
NCS Trust C.I.C is a company limited by guarantee 
domiciled and incorporated in England and Wales. 
The registered office is The Pembroke Building, 
Kensington Village, Avonmore Road, London, 
W14 8DG, company number 08235117.

The company’s principal activities are disclosed 
in the Annual Report.

Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention and in accordance with 
FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable  
in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ and the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006, including the provisions of 
the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which 
is the functional currency of the company. Monetary 
amounts in these financial statements are rounded to 
the nearest £’000, except where otherwise indicated.

The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention. The principal accounting 
policies adopted are set out below. NCS Trust C.I.C. 
constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102.

Going concern
The directors have considered the going concern principle 
with reference to the Financial Reporting Council publication 
“Guidance on the Going Concern Basis of Accounting and 
Reporting on Solvency and Liquidity Risks” (April 2016). 

The National Citizen Service Bill announced in May 2016 
allowed for the formation of a new entity which will be 
established under Royal Charter status within the near 
future. 

Whilst the operational activity of the NCS programme 
will pass to the new Royal Charter body, the Directors are 
confident that NCS Trust CIC will retain sufficient reserves 
beyond this date to be able to meet its liabilities as they fall 
due for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
of authorising these financial statements and therefore 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in 
their preparation. 

Turnover 
Government grants received for funding of programme 
and operational activities (core funding) are recognised 
on an accruals basis, covering the period when related 
costs are incurred. 

Procurement income is received for merchandise 
purchases made on behalf of the programmes charged 
at a mark-up and recognised on an accruals basis.

Parental contributions are recognised on an accruals basis 
covering the period of attendance.

Intangible fixed assets other than goodwill
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are 
recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is recognised so as to write off the cost 
or valuation of assets less their residual values over 
their useful lives on the following bases:

Software straight line over 5 years

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are measured at cost, net of 
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost 
or valuation of assets less their residual values over 
their useful lives on the following bases:

Fixtures and fittings straight line over 1–5 years

Computer hardware straight line over 3 years

Leasehold improvements straight line over the shorter 
of length of lease or 5 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is 
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds 
and the carrying value of the asset, and is credited 
or charged to profit or loss.

Items are capitalised on a unit basis, whereby individual 
items over the value of £1,000 are capitalised. A full month’s 
depreciation is charged on the month of acquisition.
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1 Accounting policies CONTINUED
Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling 
price less costs to complete and sell.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made for 
impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount of stocks 
over its estimated selling price less costs to complete 
and sell is recognised as an impairment loss in profit or 
loss. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognised 
in profit or loss.

Financial instruments
The company has elected to apply the provisions of 
Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ of FRS102 to all 
of its financial instruments.

Financial instruments are recognised when the company 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

Basic financial assets
Basic financial assets, which include trade and other 
debtors and cash and bank balances, are initially 
measured at transaction price including transaction 
costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost, 
being the transaction price less any amounts settled 
and any impairment losses.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment 
at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective 
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, 
the estimated future cash flows have been affected. If an 
asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the present value of 
the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised 
in profit or loss.

If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that 
the current carrying amount does not exceed what the 
carrying amount would have been had the impairment  
not previously been recognised. The impairment 
reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Classification of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified according to the 
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Basic financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other creditors 
that are classified as debt, are initially recognised at 
transaction price.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost, being the transaction price less any amounts settled.

Taxation
Income in relation to grants received from government 
departments used in the principal activity of the company 
are considered to be outside the scope of UK corporation 
tax; all other income is within scope of UK corporation tax.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled based on tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in respect of all 
timing differences that exist at the reporting date. Timing 
differences are differences between taxable profits and 
total comprehensive income that arise from the inclusion 
of income and expenses in tax assessments in different 
periods from their recognition in the financial statements. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 
it is probable that they will be recovered by the reversal 
of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal 
or constructive present obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the company will be required 
to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account 
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the 
amount expected to be required to settle the obligation is 
recognised at present value. When a provision is measured 
at present value the unwinding of the discount is recognised 
as a finance cost in profit or loss in the period it arises.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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Employee Benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised 
as a liability and an expense.

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised 
in the period in which the employee’s services are received.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an 
expense when the company is demonstrably committed 
to terminate the employment of an employee or 
to provide termination benefits.

Retirement benefits
For defined contribution schemes the amount charged 
to profit or loss is the contributions payable in the year. 
Differences between contributions payable in the year 
and contributions actually paid are shown as either 
accruals or prepayments.

Leases
Rentals payable under operating leases, including any 
lease incentives received, are charged to income on 
a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease 
except where another more systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the lease asset are consumed.

Non-cash benefits
Where material goods or services have been donated, 
management has estimated their value, in accordance 
with FRS102 PBE34.64 to PBE34.74, and recognised these 
within income and corresponding expense within the 
financial statements.

2 Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the company’s accounting policies, 
the directors are required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
where the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods where the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements
The following judgements and estimates have had 
the most significant effect on amounts recognised 
in the financial statements.

Non-cash benefits
Where non-cash benefits have been donated, 
management makes a judgement as to whether these 
should be included within the financial statements and 
where they are included management has made an 
estimate of the value of donations in kind, and, where the 
amount is material, the donor has verified the estimate.

3 Turnover and other revenue
An analysis of the company’s turnover is as follows:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Turnover analysed by class of business

Programme and operational grants 181,125 180,492

Donations in kind 85 2,368

Other income 4,468 4,801

185,678 187,661

Other income includes parental contributions and sponsorship income.

Turnover analysed by geographical market
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

United Kingdom 185,678 187,661
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4 Operating profit/(loss)	
OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR IS STATED AFTER CHARGING:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Depreciation of owned tangible fixed assets 162 252

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets 9 4

Amortisation of intangible assets 174 125

Stock recognised as an expense (during the year) 712 492

Operating lease charges 782 200

5 Auditors’ remuneration	
FEES PAYABLE TO THE COMPANY’S AUDITOR AND ITS ASSOCIATES:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

For audit services

Audit of the company’s financial statements 49 35

For other services

All other non-audit services 19 9

6 Employees
The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the company during the year was:

2018
NUMBER

2017
NUMBER

Staff 183 104

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Wages and salaries 8,878 4,816

Social security costs 979 565

Pension costs 416 171

10,273 5,552

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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The number of employees whose remuneration exceeded £60,000 for the year is detailed below. These figures include 
all of the Senior Leadership Team who are listed in the remuneration report.

2018
NUMBER

2017
NUMBER

£60,000–£64,999 13 3

£65,000–£69,999 5 –

£70,000–£74,999 8 5

£75,000–£79,999 5 1

£80,000–£84,999 4 3

£85,000–£89,999 1 1

£90,000–£94,999 1 –

£95,000–£99,999 5 1

£100,000–£104,999 2 1

£105,000–£109,999 1 –

£110,000–£114,999 1 1

£115,000–£119,999 – –

£120,000–£124,999 1 2

£125,000–£129,999 – –

£130,000–£134,999 – –

£135,000–£139,999 – –

£140,000–£144,999 – –

£145,000–£149,999 1 –

48 18

7 Directors’ remuneration	
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Remuneration for qualifying services 233 357

Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 12 18

245 375

Remuneration disclosed above includes the following amounts paid to the highest paid director:	

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Remuneration for qualifying services 122 122

Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 6 6
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8 Interest receivable	
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Interest income

Interest on bank deposits 37 36

9 Taxation
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Current tax

UK corporation tax on profits for the current period (13) 13

The total tax charge for the year included in the profit and loss account can be reconciled to the profit before tax 
multiplied by the standard rate of tax as shown below:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Profit before taxation 2,494 4,145

Expected tax charge based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20.00% 
(2017: 20.00%) 474 829

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 34,615 36,315

Tax effect of income not taxable in determining taxable profit (35,142) (37,254)

Adjustments in respect of prior years (13) 13

Deferred tax adjustments in respect of prior years 2 5

Fixed asset differences 65 77

Underprovision in current year (2) 1

Deferred tax not recognised (5) 27

Tax expense for the year (6) 13

The company has estimated taxable trade losses of £81,379 (2017: £109,364) available to carry forward against future 
taxable trading profits.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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10 Intangible fixed assets
SOFTWARE

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 850

Additions –

At 31 March 2018 850

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 April 2017 199

Amortisation charged for the year 174

At 31 March 2018 373

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2018 477

At 31 March 2017 651

11 Tangible fixed assets
FIXTURES & 

FITTINGS
£’000

COMPUTER 
HARDWARE

£’000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS

£’000
TOTAL
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 412 64 85 561

Additions 13 19 156 188

Disposals (16) – – (16)

At 31 March 2018 409 83 241 733

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 April 2017 244 30 60 334

Depreciation charged in the year 88 25 49 162

Disposals (7) – – (7)

At 31 March 2018 325 55 109 489

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2018 84 28 132 244

At 31 March 2017 168 34 25 227

12 Stocks	
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Finished goods 91 228
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13 Debtors	
AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Trade debtors 103 240

Other debtors 380 6,361

Prepayments 233 1,131

Accrued income 5,439 45

6,155 7,777

14 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year	
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Trade creditors 2,437 5,987

Other taxation and social security 270 231

Other creditors 63 27

Accruals 8,124 8,595

Deferred income 2,346 13,035

13,240 27,875

15 Financial instruments	
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Carrying amount of financial assets

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 5,922 6,646

Carrying amount of financial liabilities

Measured at amortised cost 10,624 14,609

16 Provisions for liabilities	
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Dilapidations provision 87 47

Movements on provisions:

DILAPIDATIONS
£’000

At 1 April 2017 47

Additional provisions in the year 40

At 31 March 2018 87

The provision for dilapidations was made in respect of the Trust’s occupation at its former principal office 
of accommodation at the Kensington Aldridge Academy, 1 Silchester Road, London, W10 6EX.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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17 Retirement benefit schemes
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEMES:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Charge to profit or loss in respect of defined contribution schemes 416 171

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme 
are held separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund.

At the balance sheet date contributions of £52,299 (2017: £27,400) were outstanding and included in creditors.

18 Company limited by guarantee
The company is limited by guarantee. The liability of its members, who number one, shall not exceed £1 each.

19 Profit and loss account
The profit and loss reserve represents cumulative profit and loss net of any distributions.

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

At the beginning of the year 4,273 141

Profit for the year 2,501 4,132

At the end of the year 6,774 4,273

Profit for the year relates to the other income received from parental contributions to the programme and sponsorship 
net of related expenditure.

20 Operating lease commitments
Lessee
At the reporting end date the company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under 
non‑cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Within one year 1,142 103

Between one and five years 2,102 132

3,244 235

21 Related party transactions
Remuneration of key management personnel (KMP)
The remuneration of KMP is as follows:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Aggregate compensation (including employer’s National Insurance) 796 406

The KMP in 2017/18 are considered to be the executive directors and Senior Leadership Team and in 2016/17 the KMP 
were considered to be executive directors.
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22 Cash generated from operations	
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Profit for the year after tax 2,501 4,132

Adjustments for:

Taxation charged (6) 13

Investment income (37) (36)

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets 9 4

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 174 125

Depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets 162 252

Increase in provisions 40 4

Movements in working capital:

Decrease/(increase) in stocks 137 (56)

Decrease/(increase) in debtors 1,622 175

(Decrease)/increase in creditors (14,635) 10,419

Cash generated from/(absorbed by) operations (10,033) 15,032
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